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The State of Michigan was admitted to the Union at the
threshhold of what may properly be desiginated in the world's
record as the "railroad age". Historians in the enthusiasm
often evidenced by their writings, have perpetuated the
glories of the Golden, and the splendors of the Silver Ages,
but neither, with all that can be said, with reference to
the advances made in oivilization, eniightenment and mater-
ial development of the world's resources during those
progressive periods, are at all comparable with the wonder-
ful accomplishments that have distinguished the nineteenth
and twentieth centuries.

It is difficult to realize the fact that when Michigan
entered upon her career in the sisterhood of States, ---less
than ten years had elapsed sinoe Stephenson w#ith the little
| *Rocket® had demonstrated upon the Liverpool and Manchester

Railway, the practicability of its operation with steam
carriages, and the movement of cars loaded with passengers
and freight at a speed of twenty-five miles per hour without
hurt or damage to the persons or property carried. In our
own country as early as 1835, Col. Hohn Stevens of Hoboken,
N.J., had construoted a miniature engine, the sucess of
whioch was demonstrated upon a cirocular track in fromt of
his residence. It was not until four years later that
Peter Cooper, the distinquished citizen and afterwards
capitalist of New York City, had placed upon the track of
the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad a rudely constrgoted mach-

ine, but abie to draw after it a passenger car carrying



thirty-six people at a speed of eighteen miles per hour.
This last acoomplishment suppis menting Stephenson's success
in England, left no room for doubt that railroads would in
the near future replace all other agencies for inlana trans-
portation for decades to come.

New York, inspired by the foresight and energy of DeWitt
Clinton, had just completed the Erie canal by which the waters
of the great lakes had been connected with the ocean, and the
rioch and unococupied area that bordered upon the shores. This
made accessible to the teeming thousands, ~#ho, forsaking the
mountainous and less fertile regions upon the Atlantic slope,
sought new homes where milder skies and more generous soil
offered easier and larger returns to the hand of labor and
toil.

Among the Territories of the Northwest, Michigan was
among the first to feel the impulse given to immigration by
the enterprise of the Empire State, and her broad domain,

80 long reported by trappers and the agents of the fur companies
whioch at that early day held almost exclusive possesion with-
in her exterior borders, as only an extended sSwamp, swarmed
with the hardy pioneers whose resounding axes soon made it
evident that they had come to stay. The fiction by.which

the tide of people seeking their fortunes in the new west

had been turned in other direotions once dissipated, an in-
flow of immigration commenced, before unprecedented in the
history of the country. The olass of population that made

up the early inhabitants of Michigan was exceptional in



enterprise and intelligence, largely from New England and
Eastern Nes York. The founders of our State brought with
them habits of thrift and industry, and sharply defined

ideas of policies, that oouid not fail to stand them on

firm ground in forming the institutions of the new ocommon-
wealth, 80 soon to grow up under their guidance and super-
vising care. The building of a news State could not have fallen
into better or more certain hands. From the first, there was
a thorough appreciation of the magnifiocent possibilities,

and a firm determinition to carry them to their most suoccess-
ful end. Prominent among other agencies to be relied upon
for the accomplishment of such purpose, was the devising and
completion of a system of internal improvements, to supple-
ment the aavantages already secured by the navigable waters
‘whioch washed the outer boundaries of the Territory. Our
fourteen hundred miles of coast, indented with innumerable
bays and inlets, furnished the finest of harbors for

ocommerce and refuge, to the shipping already beginning to
multiply on the great Northwestern lakes (Great Lakes).

The successful outcome of the canal system of the Atlantio
States had for some years previously given to such method

of internal traffic, the first place in popular favor, btut
with the certainty at last, that the steam locomotive for

80 long a time almost ridiculed as the wildest of Utopian
fancies, had become an assured fact, publioc sentiment quiokly
underwent a change, and the demand for the railroad instead

of the siow-gouing canal, everywhere asserted undenied
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supremacy. Our early settlers exposed to the fever before
leaving their Lastern homes, very soon developed out oclear
oases of the desire for the iron horse, real evidences
whioh became manifest in our early territorial legislature.
The first railroad charter granted in Michigan was an
act to incorporate the Pontiac and Detroit Raiiway Company,
approvea July 31, 1830. This was less than nine months .
subsequent to Stephenson's successful operation of the
"Rocket" in England, and before there could be said to be
a mile of track in practiocal use for general traffio within
the 1imits of the United States. Certainly there was none
upon whioh loocomotive engines had replaced the horse-power
common to the tramways in use to a limited extent during
the earlier years of the oentury. In reviewing the provisions
of that first oharter it is impossible to suppress a smile
as we read of some of the conditions imposed upon the
corporation in the construction of their road. "They were
generously permittea to use a strip of the United States
road, ocommoniy called the Sagina# road, not exceeding twsenty
feet in width running parallel #ith center of said road from
the viliage of Pontiac to the oity of Detroit, but w#ith the
following very unusual provision: 'that such railroad should
not interfere with the ditches and traveled part of said
road, nor pass upon the ground lying between said ditches.
Another section provided that such railroad should be 8o
constructea as to admit of the easy and safe passage of
wagons, oarts, sieas, and teams at the points where publiec

and private roads intersected the line of the said Saginaw



road." Certainly there was no subordinating the public
interest and oconvenience to the demands of a soulless
corporetion, in that charter, and one looks through the
entire instrument in vain to find that a single franchise
was granted beyond that of the right to build a raiiway.
And as to what manner of oreature the latter was to be, if
we may Jjuage from their legislation, our early lawmakers
were in blissful ignorance. The archives of the State do
not indiocate that the above mentioned charter was ever
utilizea. Nevertheiess, it remains upon the statute book,
a silent witness of the faot that our founders fully intend-
ed to kesp well up with the prooession in all that apper-
tained to the material progress of the times.

On the 23d day of April, 1833, an act of the territorial
legislature to incorporate the Erie & Kalamazoo Railroad
Uompany became a law. The road of this company was the
first to be opened for traffio in Michigan, and among the
earliiest of any in the United States. (Various historians
are in disagreement as to the possibility of its being the
first raiiroad west of New York.) <The termini of the road
were to be Port Lawrence and Adrian, and thence to such
point on the Kalamazoo river as should be deemea most proper
and usetfuir. Port Lawrenoe is now knoan as Toledo, and was
then supposed to be within the limits of Michigan, but as
the result of the blooaless oontest for State supremaocy
over the mouth of the Maumee, Ohio was confirmed in her

claim to the right of possession, ana in lieu thereof,



Uongress gemerously gave to the State of Michigan the Upper
Peninsula. It was then thought to be only a waste of rock
and wilderness, on the solitude of ahich civilization would
iong hesitate to intrude, though now it is of ten entered to
its innermost parts by thousands of hunters each fall. It
is hardly necessary to say that what was then deemed a
misfortune, has proved a blessing in disguise, and six
hunared and fifty miles of railway trackage were completed
by 188b, carrying towsards the trade ocenters of the country
the inexhaustible and invaluable product of its iron and
copper mines. 7This is just fo mention two things that have
benetited us by the acquisition of this large traoct of land.
The Erie and Kalamazoo railroad was opened for traffic
in 1836: it was cheaply construoted upon the plan generally
adopsed for nearly all of our primitive roads. First,
heavy mud sills hewn from the longest sticks of timber
obtainable from our almost unequalled forests, were planted
in the roadved. To these were firmly spiked the ties first
properly notohed to receive the oak stringers, which by
means of wedges were secured in position, and champfered at
the upper inside face so as to permit a safe bexing of the
car wheel flanges. To these stringers was épikod a thin,
narrow strap rail, weighing no more than six to eight
pounds to the yard, easily looseded from the fastenings by
the engagement of the car-wheels passing over it. As exper-
ience frequently proved it was wonderfully apt to intrude

upon the comfort of the passengers seated above by coming



up through the car floors and wreacking things generally.
Technically, these car inspectors were known as "snake
heads". Compared to the solid superstructures to which we
are accustomed at the present day, the roadways of half a
oentury ago seem absurd enough. Nevertheless, they were
*pointed to with pride" by the pioneers of that early period,
who firmiy believed that when the journey from Toledo to
Adrian ana return could be made through the hitherto almost
impassable recesses of the Maumee swamp in two days, but
little in the way of rapid transportation seemed left to be
desired at that partioculiar time.

For some months after the completion of the road, the
oars were drawn by horses, but on the 20th of January, 1837,
the Joledo Blade announced the arrival of the long expeoted
locomotive "Adrian, "--No. 80, from the Baldwin works at
Philadelphia. It was the third engine to be sent west of
the Alleghany range, and the f£irst to the States west of g
New York bordering upon the great lakes. The oommissioners
in charge now announoced to "“emigrants and travelers," that
the krie and Kalamazoo railroad was in full operation between
Adrian and Toledo, and that people destined for the west,
Miohigan City, Chicago, and Wisconsin Territory, would save
two days and the gorresponding expense, by availing them-
selves of the new thoroughfare.

The owners of the Erie and Kalamazoo railroad also
inaugerated the Palmyra and Jacksonburg railroad; and its

opening to Teocumseh was celebrated with the enthusiasm



lypicsl scene in 1£95.

CROSSING WATCHMAN — To warn highway traffic of on-
coming trains, railroads hire crossing watchmen who raise
and lower gates, sometimes from a tower by means of levers,
sometimes by a hand crank on the supporting column of one '
of the gates. Last hand-operated gates in Detroit are on the '
Grand Trunk Western crossing at Riopelle and Franklin streets.
. Tony Antonelli cranks them down, then watches the 1:40 train.

Crossing scene




usual to such oocasions, on the 9th of August, 1838.

Suoh, in brief is the history of the inception and
construotion of our pioneer railroad, chiefly interesting
from the fact that it was the beginning of our now extended
system of internal improvements, and the first section
constructed, of what is now one of the most extensive and
prosperous railroad properties in the United States.

The territorial Legislature on the 29th of January,
1832, ohartered the Detroit and St. Joseph Railroad Company
for the oconstruction of a road from the oity of Detroit to
the St. Joseph river, traversing the counties of Wayne,
Washternaw, Jackson, Calhoun and Kalamazoo, the latter county
then ocomprising all the territory lying between Calhoun and
Lake Michigan. Work under this charter was commenced by
the oompany and some progress was made in its construction.
upon the admission of the State to the Union, and the
adoption by the Legislature of a comprehensive scheme of
public works to be undertaken and sontrolled by State
authority, the Detroit and St. Joseph was purchased, and by
legislative enactment, subsequently became the Miohigan
Central.

March 7th, 1834 the aot to incorporate the Detroit
and Pontiao Railroad Company was approved, and for a second
time a railroad between Detroit and Pontiac was authorized.
By this time, however, legislators seem to have beocome more
familiar with the character and requirements of a railroad

csorporation, and the news ocharter conceded substantial



franohises to the incorporators, whioh though often attacked
in the oourts and Legisiature, have remained unimpaired
until the present time. In the mutations incident to cor-
porate history, the Detroit and Pontiac was changed to the
Detroit, Grand Haven Milwaukee, and long years after was
cumpleted to Lake Michigan. Finally, it was taken into the
Pere Marquete system to be known today as one of the most
important thoroughfares in the State.

Some twelve miles of this road was in use for horsecars
as early as 1835, but the first locomotive did not appear
upon its track until the autumn of 1838, when a little
maochine not much larger than a cooking stove on sheels was
placed in servioce and continued to be the sum total of
motive power employed for many years. The early patrons
of this road used to claim that on one occasion a oitigen
of Detroit, who availsd himself of its trains to make the
Journey to Pontiac and back, was so long absent from home
that his children grew out of his recolliection; ana it was
not uncommon for notes given by persons upon the eve of
departure to Royal Oak, or Birmingham, to outlaw before
their returna.

Charters authorizing the construction of railroads
between Romeo and Mt. Clemens, and Shelby ahd Detroit,
were also passed by the territorial Legislature, granting,
in perpetuity, franchises of the most liberal character to
the persons named in the acts. Suoh charters, however, were

not utilized, and upon the organization of the State govern-



ment, by common oconsent, the further work of building rail-
roads seems to have been accerted as among its principal
functions.

Probably there has never been a time in the history
of our country, when impracticable schemes of internal
improvement and extravagant poliocies for the development
of the State's res.urces, were more likely to meet with
favorable consideration than in 1836. The spirit of
speculation was rife, paper money "fiat" in character in
all that the term implies, was seeking investment, and no
enterprise, however grand its proportions, was without
frienas for its execution.

The first Governor, Stevens T. Mason, was a most
enthusiastic believer in the splendid future of Michigan
and its ability to ocarry to successful conclusion systems
of internal improvement which would leave nothing to be
desired in that particular, and attract to the State an
immigration commensurate with advantages afforded by broad
and enterprising poliocies.

It was already becoming the practice of the Federal
Government to donate to the new States liberal grants of
lands in aid of the establishment and maintenance of shcools
and universities, and the construction of works of internal
improvement. 'This State had attached an ordinance to its
Constitution, asking Congress for such assistance to build
one Or more raiiroads or canals from its eastern boundry to

Lake Miohigan. It was believed that the application wouid



meet with a favorable response in the near future. A
belief realized in the act of Congress, approved September
4, 1841, by the provisions of which Michigan, in common
with other Western States, received five hundred thousand
acres of land, the proceeds of which #ere to be devoted to
purposes of internal improvement. Relying upon the
probability of such a grant, and the anticipated rapid
settlement of the State, Governor Mason in his first message
recommenaed the most liberal legislation for aarrying for-
ward an extensive system of public works. But that the
State should be in position to exercise at least partial
oontrol of the same, he favored the idea of its becoming

a large stookhoider in such enterprises. Favoring also
the negotiation of a loan on its faith, in antiocipation

of resources to be derived from the sales of lands, that
might thereafter be grantea for internal improvement
purposes.

The Legislature fully shared the enthusiasm of their
youthful Governor, and entered with alaority upon the adop-
tion of his suggestions for the development of the news State.
A scheme for the construotion of three railroads was
decided upon, and a loan of five million dollars for that
purpose authorized upon the oredit of the State----these
roads severally to be known as the Central, Southern and
Northern, extending aoross the State. The first, from
Detroit to St. Joseph; the second, from Monroe to New

Buffalo; and the third, from Port Huron to Grana Haven.
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While during the years of distress ana disaster that followed
closely upon the era of inflation which so shaped our early
legislation, the policy of our first State administration

met with popular disapproval as being unwise and extravagant,
who, in the light of the manner in which the railroads developed
at a later date and have come to the front since, eamnot say
that the leaders of that time stand today fully vinaiocated?

' The recommendations of the Governor were practically
approved by the Legislature, so far as the works to be under-
taken were concerned, but instead of merely giving to the
State a controiiing interest as a stockholder, it was thought
the better policy to buiid the roads at the entire expense
of the pubiic treasury, and to maintain the operation and
management solely under the State control. Aithough it re-
quired but a few years of practical experience to change
popular sentiment #ith regard to the question which resuited
in the sale of the railroads to corporations charterea for
their purchase, and a provision in the Comstitution ot 1850,
whieh forever inhibited the State from being interested in
Or engaged in carrying on any #ork of internal improvement,
(this has been ammendea to exclude rublic roads--highways)
stilli there is today a strong sentiment imn this State, and
most of the others, whioh‘may be sald to be a growing senti-
ment, that the pubiic interest would be largely servea by
State control of or more important lines in a position to
fix and enforce transportstion rates upon other roads conneoting

therewith or running parallel to it. The Interstate Commerce



Oommission eontrols rates for most limes but has little or
no control over those few lines which are complete ~ithinm
the borders of the State. Whether in fact such a control
would be in the direction of a sound poliecy, I shall not
disouss upon this occasion, but that it is advocated by
eoconomists who have given much thought to a solution of the
question of transportation rates and traffioc discorimination
that have for some time past agitated the country, is

alluded to merely to show that the viess of Gov. Mason, by
him urged over a hundred years ago, #ere not so entirely
thoughtless and unsupported by the logic of a sound economy
as many of us have been accustomed to know it. But with
five millions of money supposed to be in hand, and liberal
land grants from Congress in sight, operations were commenced
upon ail the proposed works; and for a time everything pro-
gressed to the satisfaotion of the most sanguine. The Central
and Southerm roads, traversing as they did the most populous
counties, and being on the line over whioch the westward march
of empire was making its way, as was natural, were more
favored by the Legislature and the comissioners of internal
improvement under whose administration the construstion was
carried forward. Not a littlie friction was encountered
between the two rival routes, each anxious to outdo the other
and to make the fastest progress towards the western boundary
of the State. This feeiing of jealousy occasionally showed
itself in a practical way, and there is a story that when

the road bed of the Central was ready and waiting for the



iron, between Detroit and Dearborn, one of the commissioners
residing at Monroe, anticipated the vessel freighted with
rails intended for the rival of the Southern. When off the
mouth of the River Raisin, and running her about a mile up
that stream, he had the iron thrown overboard in seven feet
of water, and ordered the sohooner to return to Buffalo for
another load. This sharp practice however, availed the
*Independent State®" but little. Henry Willis, of ship oanal
fame, in ocharge for track laying on the Central, learned of
the whereabouts of the iron. Taking scow in tow of the
little steamer "Ruby", and proceeding to Monroe a few nights
after, he fished up every bar of the rail, carried it to
Detroit, and had it seourely spiked to the stringers, before
the Monroe Commissioner was aware that it had gone.

But it is not necessary to the purpose of this paper
that I should continue in detail the progress made im ocom-
pleting our railroad system under the auspices of the State.
Upon the Northern line after olearing and partially grading
about eighteen miles west of Port Huron, further work w~as
abandoned and attention in that sestion principally devoted
to the completion of what was knosn as the CGlinton and
Kalamazoo Canal, a work intended to connect the waters of
the Ciinton and Kalamagzoo rivers, and so save to commerce
the then teaious voyage by way of Mackinaw Straits. Since
that time the old c¢anal has been replaced by a railroad how-

ever.



Locomotive built in 1907




Upon the two principal lines work was continued by the
State with all the energy that its disordered finances and
the general depression that followed upon the speculative
period contemporaneous with the aduission and first three
years of our history, would permit. The fiscal agents
charged w#ith the negotiations of the five million loan had
failed to reaiize the proceeds from the parties #ith whom
placed, and #hat has been so long known upon the State
ledgers as the "part-paid bonds®, became a legacy for the
tfuture to care for. Of the remainder, all but about four
hundrea thousand dollars, as stated by the report of the
Committee of Inquiry, headed by A. T. MoReynolds, to the
Senate of 1841, had been sscattered to the four winds of
heaven, and the only available resources left for the
prosecution of the public improvements were warrants payable
in internal improvements lands, and worth in market from
thirty-five to sixty cents on the dollar. Truly, Michigan
at that low ebb of her financial fortunes, might have taken
tor her own the legend of the Kansas Great Seal, "Ad astra
per aspera,® with a touching regard for the "eternal fitness
of things."

But with charaoteristic persistency work was oontinued
upon the roads in the face of every discouragement until in
1846 the Central bhad been completed to Kalamazoo, and
Southern to Hillsdale. Karly in the session of the Legis-
lature for that year a syndicate of Boston eapitalists,

through their agent, proposed to the State authorities the



purchase of the Central road. The proposition was favorably
received by the Legislature to shom it was referred by the
Governor. A bil. chartering the Miochigan Central Railroad
Company, and providing for the sale to it of the Michigan
Centrai Railroad for the sum of two miliiom dollars, in due
time became a law. Inspired by the enterprise of the Boston
people a number of gentlemen, for most part residing in
Monroe, in this State, came to the Legislature with a
proposition to purchase the Michigan Southern Railroad Com-
pany. This proposition was also favorably received by that
body; and a law passed disposing of the road, the price to
be paid for the property being five hundred thousand dollars.
lThe oompanies, chartered in connection with the sale, were
promptly organized, and the roads transferrea to the pur-
ehasers. From that time on Michigan has left the building
of railroads within her boraers entirely to private enter-
prise.

When the State disposed of her railroads there were
remaining unappropriated nearly one-half of the lands
grantea by Congress for their sonstruction. These lands
had been selected from the public domain with special
referende to their value for their timber and agriocultural
purposes; and without doubt in these qualities were unex-
oelled by any equal area in the State. Had a wise polioy
prevailed, no disposition would have been made of the
residue of the grant until, in the oourse of years, sales

at inoreased value would have returned millions of dollars



to Miochigan's exchequer. As it was, improvident legislation
that no remonstrance of faithful and far-seeing executives
oould avert, appropriated the lands for every wild soheme that
ingenuity or stupidity ocould devise. In a short time, what
should have been held a most valuable reserve for the benefit
of the State at large, was squandered and frittered aw~ay, im
most instances, to no permanent usefulness whatever.

With the acquisitiom of its property the Miochigan Central
railroad ocompany at once commenced the extensions and improve-
ments that have made it the ohief railroad property in our
State. Under the most ablie and energetic administration of
John W. Brooks, its first general superintendent and chief
engineer, its east terminal at the Campus Martius in Detroit
was transferred to the foot of Third Street, and the splendid
river front which gave the Central its unequalied dockage
and ware-house room, was built up from the bed of the river.
The old line was relocated and reconstructed along its former
tortuous course up the Huron Valley, relaid with heavy rail
to Kalamazoo; and in the spring of 1849, the locomotive for
the first time rousea the echoes among the dunes of Lake
Michigan.

The year 1852 and the few following years were eventful
ones in Michigam railroad history. 1Im 1853 the Michigan
Southern ana Northern Inaiana Railroad ana the Michigan
Central Railroad reached the City of Chicago. During the
year 1854, through standard guage, connestions from New York

to Chicago by what are now the New York Central Lines were



effeoted, al though they were then more of a possibility
than a reality. Lkxperience had already proven the law of
the increment of traffic, and in obedienoe'to its inflexible
demands the two roads prominent in Michigan at the time
naturally were diverted to the growing emporium of trade and
commerce, Chicago. To effeot this the Michigan Southern
Raiirocaa Company had been consolidated #ith an Indiana
Corporation as the Michigan Southern and Northern Indiana
Railroad Company, the Michigan CentralL had received an
enlargement of its powers. In May 1853 the two oompanies
reachea Chicago with their trains, and for many years
continued as rival lines supplying its eastern transport
reeds. Miochigan had at this time but 4.17.3 miles of
operating raixrbad, consisting of the Michigan Central
Railiroed, 332 miles; the Miochigan Southern and Northern
Indiana Railroad, 168.9 miles; the Letroit ana Pontiac
Railroad, 36.4 miles.

In the decade 1850-60 railroads began to take shape
as systems. At the outset oonoecived as loocal enterprises,
organized w#ith local capital to conneet developing centers
not distantly situated, often planned, evident as a mis-
gonceived measﬁre of self proteotion, with guage type of
oonstruotion and equipment not suited to the conditions
of their connection carriers at either terminal, they had
hitherto been merely a mediecy of disconcerted efforts.
They haa, however, follo#ed the growth of popuiation and
wealth fairly up to that ti me and had slowly proven the



eoomomic vaiue and piace of the railroad. The Michigan
Uentral and Michigan Southern had been as large units as

any develioped up to this perioa. From then on looal
influences had less force than at first in railroad develop=-
ment, although it has even yet to be reckoned with in railroad
matters.

The trend ana economic force of the railroad in this
period may be inaicated by the results of the Michigan
Southern and Northern Inaiana Raiiroad. In 1851 it had
annual net earnings ot $305,686 over its 158.5 miles of
road extending from Monroe and Toledo to South Bend, Indiana,
g%e portion from Coldwater to South Bend having been opened
late that year. 1Imn 1853, following the entrance to Chicago,
the earnings were $1,573,181 over 383.3 miles and in 1855
they were $3,595,630 over 303.1 miles, an inorease of 849%
in revenues and 444% in revenues per mile in four years.
Such proofs of utility could not fail to enlist the support
of the financier and arouse in every detached eommunity the
purpose to gain for themselves a share of the benefits to be
realized from the railroad.

Under its impulse, govermment, finance, industry and
other related foroces were clearing the way for the railroad.
Governor yoClelland in his message to the Legislature of
1853 recommended the passage of a General Railroad Law for
Michigan. Mr. Heman D. Ely, a native of Rochester, New York,
who then represented the Marquette District in the House

was active in the formation of sSuch a law but it failed at
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that Session. It remained for the Session of 1855 to make
such a law, which received thorough amendments in 1859, and
has oontinued upon our books to the present period with
slight further modification. In 1856 Congress made extensive
grants of land to aid in the comstruotion of railroads in

the newer states, Michigan's share therein being direoted

"to aid in the construction of railroads from Little Bay

de Noquet to Marquette ana thence to Ontonagon, and from the
last named places to the Wisoconsin State Line; and also from
Anboy, by Hillsdale and Lansing and from Grand Rapids to come
to points on or near Traverse Bay; also from Grand Haven and
Pere Marquette to Flint and thence to Port Huron." The state,
by Aot No.136 of 1857, made disposal of the several grants

to companies then seeking the benefits of the law, and
ereated a Board of Control to administer such grants.

Within one year following the passage of the lana grant
act, eight new railroad ocorporations filed articles of
assocliation, six of which had been made specific grants and
had accepted the same. Three then existing corporations also
filed acceptances of grants over their routes. (Of the latter,
one, the Detroit and Milwaukee Railway Company, was an active
oarrier from Detroit to St. Johns. The Amboy, Lansing and
Traverse Bay Railroad Company was the first to file certifi-
cate of completion of twenty miles of its road doing so on
January 5, 186l. The Bay de Noquet and Marquette Railroad
Company followed with like certificate on December 1, 1862.
This latter certificate of twenty miles included the road
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of the former, The Iron Mountain Railroad Company, the first
railroad in the Upper Peninsula.

Notwithstanding the stimulus to railroad development an-
ticipated by the authors of the Land Grant Act, progress was
slow and some of the routes receiving grants offered little
Or no local promise of being feasible. (Consequently, the
original grants underwent considerable modifications, both by
Aets of Congress amd Acts of the Legislature of this State.
Forfeiture of benefits was made operative in ten years by the
terms of the original acts. Slow progress, however, led to
extensions of time, and repeated failures to reconferring of
grants. Some were never used, and on March 2, 1889 Congress
took action returning the unappropriated lands to the Publiec
Domain. Following the disposal of the United States Land
Grants, the State sought to stimulate railroad development
by use of its'swamp lands available for public use. There
was bestowed upon the several railroads of the State
3,809,826.33 acres of land under the Act of Congress and
1,695,509.99 acres under State Acts. Railroad development
under land grant encouragement was slow at first ana never
made rapid progress, but eventually went forward with fairly
stable growth. The sponsors for the plan and those seeking
its benefits were mainly awaiting the call for the vast un-
developed resources of the state, at the time well known,
yet at this time without that sustained demand which would
make their exploitation feasible. No doubt the concurrent

opening to settlement of the vast Trans-Mississippi region
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had its deterring effect. The Civil War worked to retard
development, but when men and means were returned to oivil
pursuits the land grant projects began gradually to be built.
In the Lower Peninsula the Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw,
Rallrosd Company, successor to the 0ld Amboy, Lansing and
Traverse Bay Railroad Grant completed its road to Mackinaw
in 1881 after a halt of eight years at Gaylord. ‘The Flint
ana Pere Marquette Railroad Company completed its line from
Fiint to Ludington, formerly Pere Marquette, in 1874. The
Grand Rapids and Indiana Railroad Company extended its
terminal from Bay View to Mackinas City in 1882, having
reashed the former place in 1876. These were the striotly
land grant roads of the Lower Peninsula. Others sared in
the grants to a limited extent only.

In the Upper Peninsula no such steady progress had been
achieved. The effort was considerably in advance of the call
for the resources of that region, the more necessary of whieh
were within easy reach of lake transportation. The Bay de
Noquet Grant, and the Marquette and #isconsin State Line
Grant eventually passed to the Chicago and Northwestern
Raiiway Company. Its lines were completed from Kscanaba to
Negaunee in 1864, from Menominee to Neguanee in 1872 and the
Menominee River Branch in 1882. The first 20 miles of the
Bay de Noquet and Marquette Railroad completed in 1862, had,
however, passed by consolidation to the Marquette and Onton-
agon Railroad Company, and the latter company completed 20

miles on the Marquette and Ontonagon Grant to Lake Michigzmme
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in 1865. Finally atter numerous changes ih corporate entities,
its projects were ocarried forward to Houghton in July, 1883.
In 1878 the Detroit, Mackinaw, and Marquette Railroad Company
was organized, to construct from St. Ignace to Marquette,

#ith a branch to Sault Ste. Marie. Princely state land gran ts
were oonferred upon it and its construction was completed
trom Marquette to St. Ignace in 1881, to Sault Ste. Marie in
1887. In the latter year it was merged into the Duluth,

South Shore and Atiantic Raiiway Company was the most richly
endowed of any land grant road in the state. The Ontonagon
ana State Line Grant was oconferred upon the Ontonagon and
Brule Rivei Railroad Company which complieted its first 20
miles from Ontonagon in 1882. It later completed to Sidnaw

in October 1889, presumably after the grant had been cancelled
by Congress. It is now part of the Chicago, Milwaukee, and
St. Paul Railway.

The lana grants were not in general bestowed upon routes‘\/
traversing well populated regions. They had at least one
terminel in an undeveloped region, and it was the professed
purpose of the land grant aids to lead population to unde-
veloped distriots, as well as thereby to dra# upon the resources
of those regions to supply the domestio needs and industrial
demands of the established communities. This was the first
step wherein the raiilroad was substantially to lead the way
to settlement ana industrial development. The land grant
roads in Michigan all tapped valuable forest or mine resources.

Immediately following the Civil War, luber and other forest



products became the leading productions of the upper part of
the Lower Peninsula, and mining w#as the principal industry

of the Upper Peninsula following the routes of these rail-
roads, ana of course in part determining the routes finally
chosen for these roads. kwven yet these forest resouroces are
to some extent held intact, especially in the Uppe r Peninsuls
but in great part they have already been exhausted. In many
sections no new resource bhas followed to supply the exhaus-
tion, frequentliy with disaster to the raiilroad dependihg
upon these districts for support.

Railroads in Michigan seem largely to have waitea for
public aias in one form or another to give them a sufficient
impetus to have carried out a projeot. The land grant roads
bhad only fairly commenced their programs of aoctual oonstruc-
tion when the campaign for local aids was inaugurated.
Practically every detached village community in the State
had by 1867 beocome ambitious for a railroad connection. 014
raiilroads and new had fully proven their value as a factor
in the development ot the state. The growth in population
and wealth whioh they were bringing to the communities
favored with their location, had produced almost a frensied
rivalry among the towns not so favored. 10 compete with
land grants we find municipalities voting loseal aids, either
as ¢apital stock subsoriptions or as pure out=-and-out funded
aids, notwithstanding the restrictions placeda by the Consti-
tution of 1850 upon such use of the public oredit. 1In 1863

the first local public aid act was passed by the legislature.



ln 1864 tseive were passed. In 1865 eight were passeda ana
in 1869 a general law was passea empowering townships, eities,
and villages to vote municipal aids in one foim or another
to promote raiiway projects. There was frenzied haste in
some ocases to engage the public oredit, and many astute
sohcmes tu circumvent the intent of the Constitution were
practiced. Conservative statesmen deprecated the practice.
One Governor opposed the ill advised soheme. Finally deai-
sions of the Supreme Court effectually checked the movement
ana killed many projects for railroads shich were based mére
upon local hopes than any real need.

The perioa from 1870 to 1890 was the great period of-
reilroad development in the state in the amount of milage
construotea. Yet viewing the cohnstruction of that period in
retrospeot, and setting apart the land grant roads, it is
apparent that these lines proved to be largely (feeders to
the then established main routes. At first they were promotal
as inaependent lines, and often with the expeotation that
traffic connections ocould be arranged which would make them
more than short independent lines. The rush for railroads
during the period ou%stripped the needs. Economic changes
often attending their construction, and the constant trend
to cheaper transportation sorked a failure of their finances
in most instances. Hence they naturally fell to the stronger
lines one by one and became in fact feeder or branoch lines
to some of the important systems already developed or then

developing in the state. The present Grand Trunk Western
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Railway extending from Port Huron to Chicago, built largely
during this period, was an exception. This line was origin-
ally oonsoiridated from several piecesork lines as the Chicago
and Grand Trunk Railway. It had come under strong British
financial support andi had the location and terminal conneoct-
ions to insure reasonable success. This line together with
the old Detroit and Milwaukee Railway, and extension of the
original Uetroit and Pontiac Railroad, became the foundation
of the Grand Trunk Railway Sistem as it exists today in
Michigan.

In the decadse, 1890 to 1900, there was a slackening in
railroad building. It is true that in the upper psrt of the
Lower Peninsula and throughout the Upper Peninsuls there was
a gra&ual development to bring new forest and mine resources
within the reach of transportation. But public support as ,
a pubiic matter was no longer attempted, nor would public |
opinion any longer tolerate exploitation by railroad promo-
ters to that end. Individual and community support was still
resorted to, usually in the form of individual ocash donations,
or donations of rights of way Qnd labor, often in the guise
of stook subsoriptions. Very few railroad projects were
unertaken as purely original enterprises. The development
during the period found support largely from the established
companies, although frequently the extensions were undertaken
in the name of new corporations, which received organized
support of the dominant company. The kscanaba, Ifon Mountain

and Western Raliroad in the Upper Peninsula was the principal



independent road during this decade, and proved to be a
losing venture for the investors in the project.

The present oéntury opened with a consoliaation of the
Chicago and West Miochigan Railway, the Flint and Pere Mar-
quette Railroad and the Detroit, Grand Rapids and W#estern
Railroad, which were independent roads before that time,
merged into the Pere Marquette Railroad. rhis company later
acquired several short lines as feeder, oconstructed a line
to Chicago and leased eastern connections across Ontario to .
buftalo. By this merger it became the largest system in the
state, ana by virtue of the widely extended location of its
lines throughouth the Lower Peninsula it is the most impor-
tant railroad to Michigan's welfare at the present time.

The first decade of the present century was the turning
point in railroad development in many respects. ¥rom the
struggling littie railroads of 1845, barely able to survive
the oompetition of the ox, the horse, and the stage coach,
over exeorabie roads, they had come to be an indispensable
factor in our economic li:e. In the beginhing, publie
finances oould make but a halting progress in their building
and public management achieved a doubtful success in their
operation.

Settled methods of business and habits of 1life usually
yield but slowly to innovations. The railroad had to await
in many respects the changes brought by time. From, and
after, the year i900 finanocial oonsolidations of railroads

became the most important phase of railroad matters throughout
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the country. New lines and extensions thereafter were in the
hands of experienced railroad men and were carried out only

to reach ne# resources or to take ocare of the demands upon
existing lines anda facilities. The mileage added in Michigan
thereafter was not great but the improvements made upon exist-
ing railroads ana to terminal faciiities became rather extansive.
On the wholes, our railroads were placed in a better position
for public service than they had been at any previous time.
This deocade® olosed, however, with our railroads in a some-
what unfavorabie situation both as respects earnings and
finances.

The contributions of railroad development in the nation,
in #hich Micaigan has shared notably, to the developmeht of
the mouern corporation has been an important one. In faot,
the development of the latter has been essential to the de-~
velopment of the former and in response to the general necess-
ities of the case. The law and business usages have been
gradually aaapeted to the new conditions ana demands. In-the
beginning the railroad was not an attractive investment, btut
once the experimental period had been passed it grew steadily
in public favor, both as a useful invention and as a field
for investment. The initial successes were the prelude to
oontinuing success in this field. From 1850 to 1910 there
was a steady trend of diminishing oosté of rail transporta-
tion acocompaniea by a broadening field of its utilization.

In the period of its greatest extension following the Civil

War, when competition between rival financial interests
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became the rule, rates were constantly on a downward trend
and efficiencies on the upward trend. 1his was but a natural
result of the extension of rail facilities ana the growth of
industries and weaith in relation thereto.

Throughout the whole period of growth the railroads
have offered an. important field for the use of accumuliated
capital, especially when permanence of investment has been
the chief cunsideratiom. Within the last few decades the
trend to organized industry and the development of other
utility fields has to considerable extent moaified this
oondition. In the early years of railroad build ing foreign
oapital contributea largely to its development, but follow-
ing 1880 the accumulation of domestic capital tenaed more and
more to displace the foreign investor. The great insurance
companies and other financial houses having in trust the
savihgs of the people in whatever form have always found a
most desirable field for the employment of such funds in the
great railroad investments of the nation. Almost without
recognition by the 1ay mina, the raiiroads have become
inextricably woven into the national economic structure,
not only as a utility of inaispensable necessity for day-to-
day existence, but as the actual, though indirect, repository
of the accumuliatea savings of a large proportion of our
beople as well.

In 1882 the proauots of forests haa become the dominant
commoaity in raiiroad traftic, and the commoaities of mines

and manufactures were appearing. In 1915 the proaucts of



mines had become the principal commodity and manufactures

had maae & aecided growth since 1883. Agriculture and animal
products haa kept a stong position as would be expeseted.

These examples do not, of course, show the same relative
results as the mainiines like the Michigan Central anda the
Grana Trunk which oross the Lower Peninsula, nor the raiiroads
of the Upper Peninsula where much different conditions exist.
They are taken as fairliy portraying the conaitions of the
Lower Peninsula as a whole for years shown.

The olose of the first decade of the present century
roughly marks a turn in the oconaitions surrounaing the raii-
road companies and railroad business and has affectea them in
aifferent respeois. For many years the trend towsara organized
inaustry on the corporate pian has oreated a diversified
tiela for the employment of aocumulated wealth, and has there
by tenaed to restrict the fisedom which the raiiroad corpor-
ations enjoyed for a long period in financial matters.
Practically throughout the history of the railroads up to
1910 the improvement ot raiiroad faciiities, wsith its result-
ing increase in the efficiencies of operation, hada constantly
been & factor of safety, enabxing raiilroad managements to
meet the occasional adverse conditions as they had appeared.
This together with extension of transportation to new
commoaities ooming into general use, permittea a constantly
dosnwarda trend of transportation costs up to this time. The
seocond decade of the present @éentury brought this country

into the great Worid War I, with its baneful etfects upon



men, materials and capital. The old settled conditions were
largely destroyea and while the raiilroad organization of the
nation still continued to improve, such improvements as coula
be maae were not enough to in any appreciable degree meet the
inocreased burden of day-to-day costs of transportation. After
a period of Federal control the rallroads were returned to
thelir corporate owners and then presented a problem of the
greatest importance to the nation. It was apparent to that
the 0ld conditions had passed and that the railroads were of
vital neoessity to the general welfare. Becoming more and
more a matter of public concern, and 8o recognized both in
faoct and in law, the problem was receiving serious considera-
tion anda merited the most careful treatment. The solution

of that problem apparerntly was solved in due time for the
railroads of today are of prime consideration in preserving
our social and industrial life on its present stanaard.

At the beginning of 1923 there were operating in the
State of Michigan fifty-one railroad companies making use of
8,331.62 miles of first main track and a total trackage of
14,019.62 miies. Of this mileage 1,937.65 miles of first
main track and a total trackage of 3,300.20 miles was in the
Upper Peninsula. During the year 1923 only 2- miles of
actual addition to first main track mileage was added by the
Pennsylvania Railroad Company to enter Detroit as a terminal.
This iatter amount in no way refleots the real growth of the
railroads of Miohigan for that year. The raiiroads had then

become great systems of established lines, almost wholly



interstate in ocharacter and with well established necessary and
importent funotions to perform in the aotivities of modern
life. Pressing demands for ne# roads, especially in Miochigan,
do not often arise.

At the close of 1927 there were in operation in.the state
forty-eight raiiroad entities of which twelve line carriers
were in the Upper Peninsula and twenty-three line carriers
and with eight terminal ocarriers in the Lower Peninsula. 1In
the Upper Peninsula 1,960.55 miles of first main track and
in the Lower Peninsula 6,183.37 miles of first main track was
in operation, a total of 8,143.92 miles. There w#as a total
trackage of 14,288.08 miles. bBut 7.13 miles first main track
was constructea auring the year 1937, and this was terminal
road cvnstructed in the Detroit district. Varioﬁs changes
in mileage of roads in the Upper Peninsula had taken place
in tne five years' period but they had been largely changes
of oclassification. The net increase in first main tracks
had been due t0 extensions to reach new resources brought
into proauction. <There have likewise been various abandon-
ments of mileage due to exhausted resources, a cause likely
to operate with greater foroe in the future.

In the Lower Peninsula a net reduction of first main
track mileage of 209.7 has resulted in the same period. The
new lines in this distriot have been 26.0U9 miiles by the Penn-
Syivania, 33.41 miles by the Detroit, Toledo and Iron Mountain
and a terminal road of 8.34 miles at Flint by the Pere Marquette,
all in the vioinity of and influenced by the growth of large

centers such as Detroit and Flint. During this time there



have been many miles abandoned by the former Detroit, Bay
City and Western, the Detroit and Maokinac, the Manistee and
Northeastern, the New York Central and the Pere Marquette
Railroads, in portions of the State which have undergone a
decline in resvurces and in porulation to such an extent as

t0o nullify the necessity for the roads abandoned. The Kalama-
200, Lake Shore & Chiocago Railway has passed from the list

of carriers.

We are not to take it from these changes that railiroads
had passed the zenith of their usefulness. The modern eoconomic
organization couid not go on without them. The changes noted
are the outcome of an extensive shifting of economic forces
following the first world War. The unfavorable position of
agricuiture during most of the third decade of this oentury
had worked to bring a marked decline on the less productive
regions of the State. The inoreasing use of motor transporﬁ
and the extemnsion of good roads for their use, had likewise
to a marked degree helped to take a oonsiderable share of
the local freight and passenger business of the railroads with
the result that many feeder iines have gone out of use and
have been abondoned. Airplanes at the time were still in
the experimental stage insofar as transportation of passen-
gers .and goods 1s ooncerned. Mileage, however, is not the
index of growth or usefulness. While minor abandonments had
already taken place a decline of usefuiness had developed
on many feeder linés as a result of the economic changes
noted at the same time to meet demands at the many growing

industrial and commercial centers of the State. An inorease
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in mileage had been necessary and a very marked inorease in
physical structures, equipment ana facilities had been mads.
Following the trend of population to the growing centers,
rail transportation demand likewise shifted to the principal
routes linking these growing centers and in the end there

was the natural increase of rail carriage tending to central-
ize on certain rail routes.

Thus I have attempted to bring you a brief history of
our Miohigan raiiroads up to the first quarter-century in
our modern time. Naturally there have been omissions of
facts ana figures but to sketoh nearly a hundred years of
such a large endeavor in the brief space allotted oould
only have been done in outline form. Perhaps the few
anecdotes included and the omissions will balance one
another. For further study and reading I might well suggest
the bibliography whioh includes all sources of information
obtainablie at this writing.

FINIS
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